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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT e

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS o i - i 15
TYLER DIVISION ey N
é. rﬂ ”}i'-;-" -({u wef
ADVANCEME, INC., CASENO. U V5 424
Plaintiff,
VS.
RAPIDPAY LLC, NO JURY REQUESTED —
Defendant. EQUITABLE RELIEF SOUGHT ONLY

COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT

Plaintiff AdvanceMe, Inc.. files this complaint against RapidPay LLC:

THE PARTIES

1. Plaintiff AdvanceMe, Inc. (“AdvanceMe”) is a corporation organized under the
laws of Delaware having its principal place of business at 600 TownPark Lane in Kennesaw,

Georgia.

2. Upon information and belief, at all relevant times mentioned below, Defendant
RapidPay L.LC (“RapidPay”) has been a limited liability company organized under the laws of
the state of New York having its principal place of business at 17 Battery Place in New York,

New York.
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE

3. This lawsuit is an action for patent infringement arising under the patent laws of
the United States, 35 U.S.C. §§ 271 et seq. The Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant

to 28 U.S.C. § 1338(a).

4, Upon information and belief, this Court has personal jurisdiction over
RapidPay and venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. 1391(c) and 1400(b) because
Defendant has continuously offered for sale, and continues to offer for sale, services that infringe

the patent in this judicial district.

THE PATENT IN SUIT

5. On September 6, 2005, the United States Patent and Trademark Office
(“USPTO”) issued U.S. Patent No. 6,941,281 entitled “Automated Payment” (hercinafter “the

‘281 patent™). A true and correct copy of the 281 patent is attached hereto as Exhibit A.

6. AdvanceMe is the owner of the ‘281 patent by assignment with full and exclusive

right to bring suit to enforce this patent.

COUNT ONE:

INFRINGEMENT OF THE ‘281 PATENT

7. AdvanceMe realleges and incorporates herein the allegations of paragraphs 1

through 6 of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

8. Upon information and belief, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, RapidPay has
infringed and is continuing to infringe, literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents, the 281

patent by practicing one or more claims of the ‘281 patent in its use of methods and/or systems
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covered by the ‘281 patent and offering financial services that utilize methods and/or systems

covered by the ‘281 patent.

9, Upon information and belief, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, RapidPay has
infringed and is continuing to infringe the ‘281 patent by contributing to or actively inducing the

mfringement by others of the ‘281 patent.
10.  Upon information and belief, RapidPay has willfully infringed the ‘281 patent.

1.  Upon information and belief, RapidPay’s acts of infringement of the ‘281 patent

will continue after service of this complaint unless enjoined by the Court.

12, Unless RapidPay is enjoined by this Court from continuing its infringement of the
*281 patent, AdvanceMe will suffer additional irreparable damages and impairment of the vatue

of its patent rights. Thus, AdvanceMe is entitled to an injunction against further infringement.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, AdvanceMe prays for the following relief:
(a) That RapidPay, its officers, agents, servants, employees, and those persons acting

in active concert or in participation with them be enjoined from further infringement of the 281

patent pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 283;
(b) That RapidPay be ordered to pay attorneys’ fees pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 285;
(c) That RapidPay be ordered to pay all costs associated with this action; and

(d) That AdvanceMe be granted such other and additional relief as the Court deems

just and proper.
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Dated: A//;}L} %; ;(1[9[) 5’

Of Counsel:

Respectfully submitted:
IRELAND, CARROLL & KELLEY P.C.

By: @LW

Otis Carroll, Attorney-in-Charge
Texas State Bar No. 03895700
61018S. Broadway, Suite 500
Tyler, Texas 75703

Telephone: (903) 561-1600
Telecopier: (903) 581-1071
Fedservi@icklaw.com

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF ADVANCEME,
INC.

PAUL, HASTINGS, JANOFSKY & WALKER LLP

Ronald S. Lemicux (CA Bar No. 120822)
Daniel B. Pollack (CA Bar No. 221176)
Five Palo Alto Square, Sixth Floor

Palo Alto, CA 94306-2155

Telephone: (650) 320-1800

Telecopier: (650) 320-1960

Email: ronlemieux@paulhastings.com

Douglas E. Olson (CA Bar No. 38649)
Elizabeth L. Brann (CA Bar No. 222873)
3579 Valley Centre Drive

San Diego, CA 92130

Telephone: (858) 720-2500

Telecopier: (858) 720-2555

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF ADVANCEME, INC.
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AUTOMATED PAYMENT

RELAIED APELICATIONS

This application is » continsation of U8, Ser, No. {8890,
398, Aled Jul. B, 1997,

TECHNICAL FIELD

This jnvention relates to systems and processes for amio- 3

mated repayment of 2 loan by a memhaat borrowes via fees
jevied theough an entity that provesses paymens fransaciions
for the merchant.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Card {e.g., oredit, dobit, chasgs, sinari, ot} fransacdions
generally favolve ai ieast merchants, merchant ProCessars,
fssuers, and cardholders. Such transactions include avthor-

zation, clearing, and seitlement processes, apd may ipclude

the use of n sysiom such 25 the VisaMet or Ciirus system (o
auiharize, cloar, and soitie the card payment,

Loan repayment generally iy performed by o borrower
sending periodic payments directly to the fender by post or
by electronic funds raxsfer through the banking system.

SUMMARY OF THE INVENTION

1t is an object of the invention to provide an autornated

loan repayment system and process hased on fees levied on

payment fransaclions such s these invalving uaigue iden-
tifying account pumbers (o, credit, debil, charge, pay-
me, smart, ¢ic. cacd tumbers).

The invention ulilizes & merchunl processor in the jean
repayment process. The merchant processtr may be, lor
cxammple, a thixd perty entity {i¢., a8 entity other than the
boreowes or the lender), the same entity as e iexdet. or an
entity alfilised ju some way with tie jender. As an cxample,
with some eredil cards, the merchant processor can be a third
pasty. As aaother exampls, with some cards such a5 the

erivan Express chasge card, the merchant DICCESSOr Can
b the same 23 {or at least ciosely affiticted wilh) the fendur.
In general, 2 “merchant processor” is any emity that scguires
merchant iransactions such as a bank or other financial
ipstitetion, or an organization dedicsied fo acquirizg and
processing  merchanl trapsactions. Acguiring merchant
irapsactions genernlly means receiving payrosnt information
Fom 2 merchznt or on behalf of a merchant, obtaining
anthorization for the payment from the card issner, sending
that anthorization to the merchant, and then completing the
trausaction by paying ihe perchanl, submilling the paymeni,
and getting paid by the issuer, For this service, the merchant
processor typloally Jevies 4 fee on the merchant fial is &
perceniage of the amount of the payment transaciion. in
general, the payment information forwarded to the myrchant
piocessor relaes (o a cuslomer identifier submitted to {he
merchapt as payment for some gond(sy andfor service(s),
apd that identifier can be the accounl awmber associated
with, for exaumple, 2 debit card, » smart card, a credit card
{e.g, & Visa or MasterCard card), a chamgge card (e.g. an
American Express card), eic.

The inventon relates 1o syslems and processes for asto-
mated repayment of & foan made by 2 Iender 10 a mezchast,
The systems sad procosses of the invention ulifize consumer

payment wansactions with the marchant afiow the mer- &

chant to reduce the outstending loan ameouns, Typically, 2
percentage of 4 consumer’s payment to the meichant (6.5

2

L

=
by

40

2

by eredit card) s used fo pay down the merchant's cwistand-
ing loan. In one embodiment of the present invention, &
meschart that has borrowed a loan amount from the lender
accepls a customer-identifying accoumt nomber {e.g., &
credit, charge, payment, or delil card number) as paytment
from the customer and information related to the payment is
Forwarded 1o a merchant processor. Acceptance of tis type
of payment frome the ocustoraer €41 be done, for example, at
a mercham lovation {e.g, @ roteil establishment), ovet the
selephone, or electronically via, for exarmple, the World
Wide Wob by the morchant o o behalf of the merchant. The
merchant processor then sequires the mfdrmation refated 1o
the payment transaction, processes that information, and
forwards 2t least 8 portion of the transaction amotat K the
lender as repayment of at feast & portion of the oumstanding
loas amoumt owsd by the merchanl. The loan payments
aliernatively may be acoumulated untl a predaterasined
amoint is reached, and thep st least & portion of the
sccumulaled pavinents is forwarded to the lender (or its
designee). In another embodiment, the merchani progesser
may pesiodically forwasd at jeast a portion of the paymeat
to the lender or destgnec. For example, the merchant pro-
cessor miay Jorwasd payrent AMOUNS Svery month, o based
on an amoun! such as after cach omc thowsand doliars
{51000) worlh of transactions, The lender or designee (.2,
2 bank or other lending iostitution, of an entily collecting
payments on behaif of the lender) reccives the portion of the
payment forwarded by the merchant pmoessor and applies
that amougl to the oulstanding lean amount owed by Lbe
merchan] to reduce that outstanding loan amount,

Asystem according o the fovention automates repayrment
of % ioan made by o lender to o morchant by utilizing
payment transactions {o.g., credit, debit, charge, payment,
smart, oto. cartd ransactions) with: the merchant. The sysiem
includes means for accepting customer-identifying account
pumber a8 paverent from the customer and fo forwarding
information related {0 the payines {0 a merchant processor.
In one embodiment, (he meschant may use gauipment pro-
vided by VeriFore Inc. of Redweood City, Calil, such as ap
electronic card swips maching, to faciHiate card transactions
by customers. The meschant processar includes means for
receiving (he information related to the pryment and means
for forwarding a loan payment 1ot Jepder.

The fmvention s sutomates e loun repayment prosess,

s and provides an easy and cffciont mechanism by which

merchamts that accepl customer-identifying account me-
bers {e.g., wedit cards) as payment for good(s) andfor
service(s) can repay loans. The borrowing merchants use
one or more iready-familiay payment transaction process-
ing systers 1o make the payments required by the feader or
the loan coliecting entity. The invention makes loan repay-
menl and eollection simple and efficient for botk the bor-
rower and 1he fender,

" The foregoing and other abjects, aspects, features, and
advantages of the invention will becoms more apperen from
the following drawings, description, and clains.

BRIEF DESCRIFTION OF THE DRAWINGS

Tn the drawings, ke refefence characlers generally refor
1o the same parts throughont the different views. Also, the
drawings ase not accessaridly to scale, emphasis instead
generally being placed upon iHustrating the principlos of the
invention.

FIGS. 1A and 1B arc schematic iBustrations of 2 payment
sransaction from authorization {FG, 1A) to settlement (FiG.
FELYN

Page 12 of 15
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FIG. 2 is 5 block diagram of & merchant provessor making
payment to bt a merchant and 2 lender, in accordance with
the invention.
BIG. 3A fs o diagram of a merchsnt processor Sysiein
secording 16 the investon.
FIG. 3B is 2 diagrem of & meschunt focation,

DESCRIPTION

Referring to FIGS. 1A and 1B, a purchase fransaction
{e.g., a credit card transaction) generslly begiss with a
cardholder 10 providing & cusivmer identifier (typically, 2
nnique ideniifyiny scoomn gumbsr such s that o a credit
card such as s Visa or MasterCard cared, 2 debfi card, & smart
card, a charga card such us an American Expross card, ¢1c.)
to a merchamt 20, as ndicated by an arrow 12, for payment
of goods andfor services purchased by the customer. The
rerchant ven be sny business that accepis such form of
payment for ine goods andfor services provided to customers
by the business. The cardholder 10 might prosent the card 1o
the mescham: 20 i porson, or the cardholder 10 might
provide the card imber to the merchant over the telephons
or elecironicaily by computes {6.¢., via the World Wide Web,
WWW). Also, the eardhoider 18 might provids the card
prumbet 10 2 eatity acting on bebialf of the merchanl sach as
2 WWW provider thal sets up and mainiaios the merchant's
Wet: pagels). However the customer dentifier {e.g., card
surgber) gels fo the merchant or the mezchant’s ageni,
authorization must be obtained before e peyment can be
accepied and the parchase sransaction completed.

Authorization, a5 skuwn in FIG. 1A, involves an slitho-
rization request going 10 & merchant procosser 34, as ndi-
cated by an arrow 22. The request gencraily geis to the
msrchant processar 3 electroniealky by, for exnmple, trans-
mission through the telephone sysiem gnd/jor some other
nerwork 6.2, the Interrst andfor an intranet). The merchant
processor 36 (aiso known as 2 acquirer becpuse il acquires
merchant transactions) then ronles the authorizaiion reguest
W a card issuck 50 vie & netwotk 48, as indicated by arrows
32 and 42. In some smbodiments, the metchant processer 30
{360 i FIG8. 2 and 3A) is the bumk of the merchant 20, and
the card iseuer 5B i fhe cardholder’s bank. The touling
generatly is porformed clectronically in a mannes mentioned
above (1.e., via one or more public and/or private networks).
The network 40 may be, for example, the Visalet system.
Other examples of the actwork 4 include debit card pro-
cessing network systems {E.5. Cirrus), ihe Armerican
Express card network, and the Discover {Novus) eard net-
work. It may be possibie io bypass the network 40 and send

the authorization request directly from the merchant proces-
sor 30 1o the card Issuer 50, In some instances, the cardt
sssuer 50 also performs the Function of acquiring merchant
ransactions (American Express i an sxample). Also, the
merchiant processor 36 and the cord fssuer 58 oan be merged,
sud (he sulborization request will then go only o the
merchum processor 30 which itself then ¢an approve of
disapprove the request because the merchant processor 3¢
and the card isswer 50 are now he same entily. In the case
where the network 40 is used and the card issuer 56 a0d the
merchant processor 3 are scperaie {organizationaily aadfor
physically) entities, the card issuer 50 receives the auhori
zation Tequost viz the notwork 48 and either approves of
disapproves the request. An exampte of when the card fssuer
50 may disapprove the authorization request is whes the
cardhoider 10 has reached the maximum limét on the card Or
if the card number has been frandwlently obtained, Assum-
my the reguest i approved, the eaid issusr 59 sends

=3

39

o]

4
approval of the authorization o the merchant processor 30
via the netwaork 48, as indicated by amows 44 and 33. The
tupechant processur 36 ten passes on 1be authorization
approval to the merchant, as indicated by an arrow 24, With
the approval, the sacand part of ihe card iransaction can BOwW
scoun This relum path {L.e., arrows 44, 34, aad 24 also can
be accomplished by electronic transmission through one or
more private andjor public nerwork systers. 1 geneeal, ali
of the arrows in FIGS. 1A, 1B, and 2 mepresemt electronic
transmissions, excepl possibly for azrows 12,22,24,26,52,
and 54 which may involve other iypes of tramsmission such
a5 physical delivery (e.g.. a card handed over by the card-
holdet/customer 103 or post (e.g., a bill sent to the card-
hotder 19 via the U.S, Postel Service or other carrier) of by
elephone.

Referring o FIG. 1B, 1o complete Lhe parchase fansac-
tiog, the dollar amount of the customer’s purchass ts for-
warded to the merchaut processor 38 by the merchant 28, as
indicated by an amow 26, The merchant processor 39 pays
the merchan 28 some amount less than the amount subimi-
1ed 1o the meschan processor 30, The merchant processar 3B
sypicalty charges a fee, often efeered 1o 25 a discount sale,
for pcessing the purchase iransaction. For exampie, the
custorper’s purchese may bave been 5100, snd with 2
discount rate of 1.9%, the merchant 20 is paid §98.190 {i.c..
$100 less the 1.9% disconmt rato) by the merchant processor
48, The merchant processor 30 submits the entire amount of
the customer’s purchase 1 fhe card issuar 51 via the network
49, 35 indicated by arrows 36 and 46. Again, ke network 40
may be elminated, and the merchant processer and card
sasuer Bumetions may be coslained n one entity. In the case
where the meework 48 s inclnded and the meyehant proces-
sor and gare issuer Bmctions are separste, t1he card issuer 50,
via the network 46, pays the merchant processor 30 some

s amount less than the amount sabmitted to the card issuer 59

by the merchant provessor 30, as indicated by arrows 48 and
38, This recuced amount refiects spother fee levied on the
iransaction by the card issuer 5B, oRen reigmred 0 85 an
inlerchange fec. The interchange fee is often patt of ke
discount rate. The merchant processor 3 thon in tur pays
e meschant 28 (5.g., by forwerding paymest 1 3 bank
having an scoount maimiained by the merchent 20} some
amonnt less then the cusiomer’s origine purchase anoum,
25 indicated by an arow 28, For example, with an original
cusiemer purchase of $100, and with an interchange fee of
1.4%, the merchant pioCessor 3b is peid §98.60 (is., BLOG
fess the 1.49% interchange fec) by the card issoer 50, This
smnonnt i iarther reduced by the merchant pracessor’s fes.
Thus, in this $100 original customer puschase example, the
morchant 28 &5 paid $98.30 by the merchant processor 30,
the merchant processor 30 mukes $0.50, and she card issuer
makes §1.40.- Stated anotber way, the merchant 20 pays
1.8% for 1hs abilisy 1o offer custnmers the convenionee of
paying by card, and that 1.9% fee or surcharge s aliocated
10 fhe meerchamt processor 30 (0.5%) and the card issuer
£1.4%) for providing the merchaut 20 with that ability.
“The card ssust 50 bills the customer or cardholder 16 for
ihe fult amownt of the origianal purchase (s.g., $101)}, sud the
cardholder 10 is responsible for paying thet amount, plus
any interest and ofher fees, In full or in installment pay-
mess. Also, when the setwork 4 is used, both the merchant
processor 30 ami the card fsuer 50 penerally pay = fee 10 the
provider of the notwork 4D, For example, in the case of
VisaNet, the merchant processor might pay, 30,069 fo Visa-

< Net as 2 card service fee, and the card issuer 56 might pay

Visablet $0.059 a5 a eavd service and transaction foe. Fhese
payments by ihe merchanl processor 31 and the card issuer
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50 to the provider of the network 46 reduce the amovat mads
off of the surchargs {e.g., 1.9%) imposed on the merchant
20,

Having described the environment fa which the imvention
operates with reference to FIGS. 14 and 15, the gutomiatad
loan repayment system 25 process according o the inven-
tion will now be described with refersnce to FICS. 2, 34,
and 3B,

Referfing W FIG. 2, 4 lender 66 makes 2 loan fo the
merchant 26, 15 indicated by an syrow 62, The merchant 20
fhen is required to pay back the full lvan amount phus
interest, and possibly fees. Currently, the morchant 28 {ypi-
cally pays the outstanding Ioan back in periodic instaliments
{¢.g., equal monthly paymenis over five years). The mar-
chant 26 may make thess payments 1o the lender ¥ or to
some ofher loan repavment receiver. In FiG. 2, the loan
repayment receiver is identified as the lender $6. Tn accor-
dance with the invention, & purchase iransaction gcours s
indicaied in FIG. 1B except 1hbal the Sual siep where the
taeschant processor pays the meschant is altered. That ks, the
payment indicated by the arrow 28 is elisred. The inventivn
invelves a morchant processor 300 designed to pay 2 portios
of what would normally go to the merchant 28 to the fendey
60 a5 tepaymont of at jeast a portion of the merchast’s

siztstanding 1060 amourt, as indicated by an areow 28. The =

lender 69 thea receives that porion of the payment for-
wagded by the merchant processor 390 and applics it 1o the
merchant’s outstanding loan amoent o reduce thal outstand-
ing loan amount. The merchant procsssor 308 thus pays the
merchant 20 sorme sinount Jess than what the merchant 20
would receive in the arrangement of FIG, 1B, is indicated by
an arow 27 in FIEL 2. For example, carrying on with e
example inrodused above with reference to FIGS. 1A and
1B, insicad of paying $98.10 fo the merchant 28 on 2 3100
original card purchase, the meschant procsssor 308 might
sendd $88.10 1o the merchant 20 and the other §10.00 10 the
lender 60.

Tnn aceordance with the invention, thete can be a number
of variations on how and when the merchant processor 300
pays the lender 6. For example, the morchant processor 0o
can accumulate the pavinents eceived frons the card issuer
50 (vig azows 48 and 38) unld 2 predetermined dollac
amount is reached, and then the merchant processor 300 can
forwrard al teast & portion of the scoumlated payments 1o the
lender 68, Also, as ancther example, the merchant processor
300 can periodically forward paymeat 1o the lender 66, such
as upon every other payment received from the card issuer
50,

Referring to FIG. 34, the merchant processor 380 sccord-
ing to the invention typicaily includes at jeast @ processor
362, memory 304, an inputjoutput (V0 device 306, a
wmerchant accounts database 308, and a bus 316 or other
smeans for allowing these components to communicate. The
HO module 306 shows the memhant processor 360 i
communicste electronically with the other components {&.g.,
the meschant 20, the network 48, the card issuer 50, ang the
lender 60) in the casd transaction processing system shown
in s deswings. The processor 302 and the memery 304
cotpetale with cech other and with the other componeats of
the merchan! processor 306 to perform all of the Junction-
ality deseribed hereln, In ome embodiment, fie merchant
processor 300 execwies appropriate sofiware to pesforay bt
of the -funciionality described berein. In ap aliemative
erbodiment, some or all of the functionality described
herein can he accomplished with dediceted electronics hawd-
wired o perform the deseribod functions. The merchant
accounts database 308 van include information identifying
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all merchants 20 with which the merchant processor 300 is
amihorized 1o do business (e.g., 2 least a plurality of unique
merchant code pumbers), snd it also can include information
about which lender 60 is associated with sach suthorized
merchant 20 snd how {e.g., doffar smounts and frequency)
psyments are 1o be made 1o the lenders 60 by the merchant
processor 304, 'The merchant processor 300 according o the
invention can be an appropriaiely programmed compuler
such as a mainframe, minicompuler, PC, or Macintosh
computer, ot it can include a plurality of such computers
conperating to perform the functionality described herein.
Similarly, the other compapents of the card {raosaction
system {&.g. the merchant 20, the network 48, the card
issuer 50, and the lender 60) according fo the fuvention
typically include ons or move appropriately programmed
computers for implementing the functionaiity desoribed
hercin.

Referring to FIG. 3B, the morchant 20 typically includes
at least one computer uail 312, such a5 @ microprocessor and
associated peripherals, that commmuaicates over 2 bus 34
with # consumer data input devics 316, & ransaction dais
inpur device 318, memory 320, and am inpuloutput (o
device 322. The consumer data input device 316 is located
st the point-of-sale o & copsuner of merchandise or services
from the merchant. The device 316 can include & keyboard
foF us 10 enfer B CODSEMEs’s sccount numberfidentifier, or
aliematively #t can isclude 2 magpetic card reader for
reaitng a magnetic stripe ou a plastic card ferted it the
resder, With such a magnetic stripe cerd, e siripe s
encoded with the identifier {e.g., the customer’s Visa credit
card account vumbery, When such a plastic card iz usad, e
devies 316 also may inchude a keyvbourd for emiry of &
personal ideatification auuaber {PIND for verifying against a
code stored In o on the card. The transaction date input
dovice 318 also is Iozated at the poim-of-sale, and it typi-
sally includes 2 keyboard or the ike for wse by, for example,
» sales cletk o enter the dolisr amount of the wezchasdise
or service purchased by the sustomer and possibly other
related information, The device 318 conld irclude o cash
regigter. In some embodimenis, the devices 316 and 318 can
share 2 singls kevhoard. The consumer and iransaciion dals
entered through the devices 316 and 318 may be temporarily
stored in ibe memory 326 The memory 329 siso may
include merchant datz along with soffware fo direct oper-
tion of the computer 312, The merchant date typically will
inchude at least @ merchant code sumber to identify the
merchant, and merchant data also mey include information
indicating the time or tocation of the sals andfor the sales
clerk involved i the purchase transaction, for example. The
merchant 26 may kave mote flan one point-of-sale locations
and each such location can be equipped with consumer and
yransaclion date input deviees 316 and 318, Similady,
memory 320 and 1O devices 322 van be replicated at sach
point-of-sale location at the meechant 20. In onc smbodi-
ment, only the devices 316 and 318 are roplicated al the
emerchant 20 such thaf only one computer 312 3s needed by
each single merchant location, VeriFone Inc. of Redwood
City, CzEL, for example, provides sueh merchent-location
cuuipmant.

Referring now to both F1G. 3A and F1G. 3B, the merchant
processos 340 end the smerchan 20 cum CoOmmReae
theough the YO devives 306 and 322. These dovices 305 and
322 can be modems, for example.

While only on mercham %0 and one leader 6 are shown
ia the drawings, 1t should be vndersiood thal in general 2
plurality of merchants 28 wiil ineract with the merchant
processor 308, and the merchant processor 30 could inter-
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act with ot or mome lenders 60, in accordance with the
invention. The different meschants 20 geserslly will have
varying outstanding loan armounts owed fo oas o more of
the verions lenders §8. The invention ks been shown and
desoribed with refevence to ons merchant 20 and one lender
60 for skmplicity and ease of understanding, Algo, as staied
previously, the meschant processor 388 and the cand jssuer
50 can be separate entities (as is generally the case with Visa
card processing) or the same gality, or at least affiliaied
exntities, {as is generally the zase with American Express card
processing). .
Variations, modifications, and other implementations of
what is described heroin wilf occur to those of erdinary skill
in the art without departing from the spirlt and the scope of
ihe vention as claimed. Accardingly, the Invention & 10 be
defined not by the preceding ilusirative description but
instead by the spirit and scope of the folloving clairs,
What is claimed ist
1. A method for automated payment, comprising:
al & merchant, scespting a customer idontifier a5 payment
Frow the customet and electzopically forwsrding infor-
masiaon related to the payment o 2 compuierized mer-
chant procossor,
at the computerized merchant procossor, acuiring the

information related 1o the payment from the merchant,

authorizing and settiing the payment, and forwarding at
ieast # portion of the payment lo 2 computerized
payment receiver a5 payment of at least & portion of an
obligation made by the merchant; and

at the computerized payment receiver, recsiving the por-
tion of the paymem forwarded by the compiierfzed
merchant processor and applying thal portinn to the
ouistzrding obligation made by the merchani o reducs
such obligation.

2 The method of clafm 1 wherein the accepling step :

comprises accepting a credit card number as thes customer
identifier.

3. The method of claim 1 whersin the accepting step
comprises sccepting 4 debit card mumber 05 the cusiomer
idenifier.

4. The melbod of claim 1 wherein the accepiing step
comprises accepting a smari card mimber a5 the cuslomer
identifier.

5. The method of clabim 1 wherein the accepting siep
comprises accepiing & charge card munber & the cumomer
identifier.

§, The method of claim 1 wherein the accepting step
comprises sccepting the customer idemiifier at % merchant
locylion.

7, The metbod of cleim 1 wherein the accepling step
comprises slectronically accepiing fhe pustomer identifier.

8. The methud of claim 1 wherein the steps performed at
the merchant processor Further comprise accumulating the

o
(=]

-
ot

Alz

5

]

payments uptl « predetermined amount is reached and then
forwarding al loast a pertion of the acousmmidated paymients to
the payment receiver.

9, The method of claim 1 wheiein the steps performed 2t
the mercher processor comprise perfodically forwarding at
lsast & portion of the peyment to the payment rocsiver.

10. A system for amomnied payment of an obligation
made by a merchant, comprising!

a2t 4 merchant, seans for accepting & customer identifter

as payment from the sustomer and for electrenically
forwarding information siated to the payment o 2
computerized merchant processor, whersin {he mer-
cham sssocialed with the payment has an culstanding
obligation to a third party; and

ot the compnterized merchapl pracessor, means for

receiving the information related 1o the payment from
the merchant, means for anthorizing and seitling the
payment, and

means for forwarding & portion of the payment to the third

party to reduce the obligation.

11, The system of claim i1 whersin the accepting means
compriscs means for aceepting a veedil card mumber 36 the
custozper identifier.

12. The systom of elaim 10 wherein the sccepiing means
comtprises means for accepting a debit card number as the
cnstemer identifier,

13. The system of claim 10 wherein the accepting means
comprises meane for accepting & smart card pwnber as the
custorner Kieniifier.

14. The system of olaira 10 wherein the acoepting means
comprises means for accepting 2 charge card number as the
customer identifies

15. The system of claim 10 wherein the secopting means
comprises means for accepting the caswomse identifier al 3
merchant location,

16. The sysiers of claim 18 wherein the sccopting means
comprises means for electronically accepling the custorner
identificr.

17. The sestem of claim 10 wherein lboe meuans & the
merchant processer further comprise means for accumuiat-
ing the paymenis until & predetermined amount i reached
and moens for forwarding af isast a portion of the accurmu-
lated paymenis to the third party.

18. The system of claim H wherein the forwarding means
a1 the mercharnt processos comprises means for perodically
forwarding at least a postion of the payment lo the third
party.

19, The system of claim 19 wherein the forwarding means
2t the merchant processor comprises means for forwarding
io the third party an amoust that is & percentage of i
obligation.




